BYLAWS

(Ratified January 8, 2025)

ARTICLE I – MEMBERSHIP

SECTION 1

- QUALIFICATIONS

Membership consists of such persons who have:

- A. Confessed Jesus Christ to be their personal Lord and Savior (Romans 10:9-10)
- B. Been baptized as a believer in water by immersion in the name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Spirit (Matthew 28:19-20)
- C. Consented to the purpose and provisions of the church Constitution and Bylaws (Acts 2:42)
- D. Made application for such membership and have been approved by the Elder Board (Acts 2:38-41)

SECTION 2

- PARTICIPATION

- A. Members are expected to pursue personal spiritual maturity and apply their spiritual gifts to the ministries of the church.
- B. Members who have not participated in the life of the church for a period of six months may be designated "inactive" by the Elder Board.
- C. Upon renewed participation in the life of the church, an "inactive" member may be designated "active" by the Elder Board.

SECTION 3

– VOTING MEMBERS

Members are persons of any age who meet the qualifications of Section 1 above; however, only "active" members 18 years of age and over may vote in congregational business meetings.

SECTION 4 – REMOVAL

The Elder Board may remove a member from the membership roll for any of the following reasons:

- A. The member submits a request for removal.
- B. The member does not attend church for one year and does not respond to the Elder Board's written inquiry as to interest. (Hebrews 10:24-25)

- C. The member teaches, distributes literature, or advocates doctrine or practices contrary to the Statement of Faith in the church Constitution. (Titus 3:10-11)
- D. The member continues in sinful practices without repentance. When restoration efforts and church discipline, following the steps of Matthew 18:15-17, fail to bring repentance, the member shall be dismissed. (I Corinthians 5:1-13; Galatians 6:1)
- E. The member acknowledges that they are no longer in agreement with the agreement commitments in the Membership Commitment.

ARTICLE II – CHURCH OFFICERS

SECTION 1

– ELDERS

- A. Qualifications
 - 1. An elder, whether staff or layman, shall meet the Biblical qualifications. (I Timothy 3:1-7; Titus 1:5-9; I Peter 5:1-4)
 - 2. With the exception of the Senior Pastor, he shall have been a member of the church for at least two (2) years that his character and commitment to ministry may be observed.
 - 3. He shall agree to teach and give counsel consistent with the Statement of Faith and the Teaching Positions of Grace Church of Orange.
 - 4. The Senior Pastor shall be an elder and serve as a perpetual member of the Elder Board (see paragraph E below).
- B. Confirmation
 - 1. If a member believes that the Holy Spirit is calling him to the office of elder (I Timothy 3:1), he shall make his interest known to the elders.
 - 2. He shall be examined by a Review Committee of three (3) or more elders chosen by the Elder Board. The examination shall review doctrine, character, faith and any other matters pertaining to his qualification.
 - 3. If he qualifies, the Elder Board shall submit his name as nominee for elder to the congregation.
 - 4. Confirmation to office shall be in accordance with ARTICLE II, Section 3.
 - 5. The number of elders shall be determined by the number of individuals scripturally qualified and willing to serve.
- C. Role of All Elders
 - 1. The elders shall devote themselves to prayer and to the ministry of the Word, shepherding the congregation in love,

providing counsel, discernment and direction to members concerning doctrine and Christian living (Acts 6:4; I Peter 5:1-3; Acts 20:28).

- D. Elders-At-Large
 - 1. Those men who have been qualified and confirmed as elders but are not currently serving on the Elder Board shall be Elders-At-Large and shall perform the duties of elders described in ARTICLE II, Section 1, C.1.
 - 2. Only one member of a family (parent, sibling, or child) may serve as an Elder at a time.
 - 3. An elder shall recuse himself or be excused from Elder discussions or decisions that create a conflict of interest.
- E. Elder Board
 - The elders shall select from among themselves at least seven (7) to serve as the Elder Board. The Elder Board shall conduct the regular business of the elders for the term of three (3) years. No elder other than the Senior Pastor may serve more than three (3) consecutive terms without a one (1) year leave. Length of terms may be reduced in order to accommodate staggering of terms.
 - 2. The Elder Board shall conduct the regular business of the elders including the responsibilities for the teaching, development of Teaching Positions, preaching, evangelism, church membership, discipline, and overall governance of the church.
 - 3. The Elder Board is responsible for oversight of the Senior Pastor and shall provide him with a position description and regular evaluations.
 - 4. The Senior Pastor shall be a member of the Elder Board.
 - 5. No other paid staff member shall be a member of the Elder Board.
 - 6. The Elder Board shall choose from among its members on an annual basis a chairman and a secretary/treasurer who shall also be the corporate officers of the church.
 - 7. Members of the Elder Board are the Directors of the Corporation.
 - 8. The Elder Board shall meet periodically to pray, plan, and address spiritual concerns and responsibilities of elders.

- 9. An Elder Board meeting may be called by the chairman or any three elders jointly. Meetings shall take place monthly, or as necessary to carry out the duties of the Elder Board.
- 10. All Elder Board members shall be given notice of any Elder Board meeting.
- 11. At any meeting of the Elder Board, a majority of the members shall constitute a quorum.
- 12. Business shall be conducted by consensus. If consensus is not possible, or an item of business requires a recorded vote, a majority vote shall prevail.
- 13. If agreed by all Elder Board members, an item of business may be conducted by telephone, mail or email.
- 14. The Elder Board or any three elders jointly may request the participation of the broader group of elders to discuss any elder concern.
- F. Term of Office
 - 1. An elder remains an elder until he terminates his church membership, resigns or is removed from office in accordance with ARTICLE II, Section 4.

SECTION 2

- DEACONS

- A. Qualifications
 - 1. Those members who have been chosen to serve as Deacons or Deaconesses will hereafter be referred to as "deacons".
 - Deacons shall meet the Biblical qualifications. (I Timothy 3:8-13)
 - 3. Deacons shall have been members of the church for at least two (2) years that their character and commitment to service may be observed.
 - 4. Deacons are men and women who exemplify godly character and provide leadership to the serving ministries of the church.
 - 5. Wisdom, leadership, and administrative ability, as well as spiritual maturity, shall be considered in nominating deacons.
 - 6. Only one member of a family (spouse, parent, sibling or child) may serve as a deacon at a time.
- B. Confirmation
 - 1. The number of deacons shall be determined from time to time by the elders, as necessary.
 - 2. There will be a Deacon Board that will be responsible for finance, facilities, the serving ministries of the Church, and

any such other duties as the Elders assign from time to time. There will also be a pool of deacons from which the Deacon Board will be chosen.

- 3. Confirmation to office shall be in accordance with ARTICLE II, Section 3.
- 4. If at any time the number of deacons serving on the Deacon Board is less than seven (7), the Elder Board shall appoint interim Deacons to increase the number to at least seven (7). Interim members shall meet the qualifications of a Deacon (see Article II, Section 2, A2). They shall serve until the next scheduled confirmation of deacons.

C. Responsibilities

- 1. Deacons shall serve in various capacities as designated by the elders and may appoint committees and subcommittees as they deem appropriate and necessary.
- 2. The Deacon Board is responsible for management of the budget approved by the congregation. They have the authority to adjust line items within the budget within reasonable limits as necessary to responsibly operate the church. Such adjustments should be consistent with meeting the ministry needs and priorities established by the approved budget.
- 3. The Elder Board shall appoint, on an annual basis a chairman. The Deacon Board shall thereafter select a vice-chairman, and a secretary.
- 4. No member of the Deacon Board has authority as a member apart from the Deacon Board.
- 5. A Deacon Board member shall recuse himself or be excused from discussions or decisions that create a conflict of interest.
- 6. Deacons, in consultation with the Elder Board, shall provide for periodic input from the congregation in evaluating ministries.
- 7. The Deacon Board shall provide for a Policy and Procedures Manual of church operations and for an annual review of the manual.
- 8. Deacons operate under the authority of and at the direction of the Elder Board.
- D. Meetings
 - 1. Deacons shall meet as necessary to carry out their duties.

- 2. All Deacon Board members shall be given notice of any Board meeting.
- 3. At any meeting of the Deacon Board, a majority of the Board shall constitute a quorum.
- 4. If agreed by all Deacon Board members, an item of business may be conducted by telephone, mail, or email.
- E. Term of Service
 - A deacon's term begins on the day following the congregational business meeting at which he is confirmed. Each term shall run for two years and terminate at the end of the day deacons are confirmed to office for the next term. The Elder Board may designate a deacon to serve a one-year term in order to maintain a balance in staggered terms.
 - 2. No deacon may serve more than six (6) consecutive years without a one (1) year leave.
 - 3. Removal from office prior to completion of term shall be in accordance with ARTICLE II, Section 4.

SECTION 3

- CONFIRMATION TO OFFICE

- A. Process
 - 1. Confirmation of deacons and new elders shall take place at the annual congregational business meeting or at any other congregational business meeting.
 - 2. The Elder Board shall annually appoint a Nominating Committee of at least one (1) elder, and two (2) other church members.
 - 3. The Nominating Committee shall a) solicit names from the congregation of those believed to be qualified to serve as elders or deacons, b) review recommendations from the congregation for deacons considering membership eligibility, scriptural qualifications, and practical considerations, c) present names of deacon nominees to the Elder Board for approval, d) contact each approved deacon nominee to determine their willingness to serve, and e) submit the final list of deacon nominees who have agreed to serve to the Elder Board.
 - 4. The names of all nominees (members qualified for deacons and elders) shall be published at least four (4) weeks prior to the congregational business meeting.
 - 5. Any member who believes that a nominee is not Biblically qualified shall discuss the matter with an elder at least one (1) week prior to the congregational business meeting. If the

Elder Board determines the objection to be valid, the name of the nominee shall be withdrawn.

6. Confirmation of officers requires a written affirmative vote of three-quarters (3/4) of the members voting at any congregational business meeting.

SECTION 4 – REMOVAL FROM OFFICE

- A. Conditions
 - 1. An elder or deacon may be removed from office by the Elder Board if they fail to fulfill the responsibilities or fail to meet the qualifications of the office.
- B. Process
 - If an elder or deacon fails to fulfill the responsibilities of their office or maintain the Biblical standards of leadership, the Elder Board shall attempt to restore the person in accordance with the steps set forth in Matthew 18:15-17 prior to bringing the matter before the congregation. The success of the restoration process shall be determined by the Elder Board (I Timothy 5:19-20).

ARTICLE III – CHURCH STAFF

SECTION 1

- SENIOR PASTOR

- A. Hiring
 - Hiring of the Senior Pastor is the responsibility of the Elder Board and requires the written affirmative vote of three-quarters (3/4) of the members voting at any congregational business meeting.
 - 2. The Senior Pastor shall be an elder, shall serve on the Elder Board, and shall be directly accountable to the Elder Board.
 - 3. The Senior Pastor shall fulfill the position description provided by the Elder Board. (See ARTICLE II, Section 1.E.3)
 - 4. The Senior Pastor is the manager of all staff and is responsible for their hiring, supervision, compensation (within budget constraints) and dismissal. Job descriptions and personnel policy for staff shall be provided by the Senior Pastor or his delegate.
- B. Termination
 - 1. Removal of the Senior Pastor shall be in accordance with ARTICLE II, Section 4.

SECTION 2

- ASSOCIATE PASTORS

- A. Associate Pastoral Positions
 - 1. Associate pastors are accountable to the Senior Pastor or his delegate.
 - 2. Associate pastors can be elders but cannot serve on the Elder Board during the time they serve on staff as an Associate Pastor.
- B. Hiring
 - 1. The hiring of associate pastors requires the approval of the Elder Board.
- C. Responsibilities
 - 1. Associate pastors shall be assigned responsibilities by the Senior Pastor or his delegate.
- D. Termination
 - 1. Associate Pastors can be terminated by the Senior Pastor in consultation with the Elder Board.

SECTION 3

- NON-PASTORAL STAFF

- A. Non-Pastoral Staff Positions
 - 1. Non-pastoral staff are support staff whose primary responsibilities are not pastoral in nature.
 - 2. Any person hired as an administrator must meet the qualifications of a deacon.
- B. Hiring
 - 1. Hiring of non-pastoral staff shall be the responsibility of the Senior Pastor or his delegate.
 - 2. Salaries shall be set within the approved annual budget.
- C. Responsibilities
 - 1. The responsibilities of non-pastoral staff shall be determined by the Senior Pastor or his delegate.
- D. Termination
 - 1. Removal of any non-pastoral staff member shall be at the discretion of the Senior Pastor in consultation with one or more elders.

ARTICLE IV – ORGANIZATIONS AND MEETINGS

SECTION 1

- ORGANIZATIONS

- A. Only those organizations that are approved by the Elder Board or Deacon Board shall be recognized as part of the church program and ministry.
- B. These organizations have only that authority which is delegated to them by the Elder Board or Deacon Board.
- C. All organizations shall be conducted in a manner consistent with the Purpose and Statement of Faith in the Constitution.

SECTION 2 – USE OF FACILITIES

All meetings, gatherings, events or activities conducted in the facilities of the church shall be consistent with the Purpose and Statement of Faith in the Constitution.

SECTION 3 – CONGREGATIONAL BUSINESS MEETINGS

- A. The date, time and location of the annual congregational business meeting shall be determined by the Deacon Board.
- B. A congregational business meeting may be called by the Elder Board or the Deacon Board. Announcement specifying the date, time, location and agenda items of the meeting shall be published at least 10 days in advance of the meeting unless more notice is required by the Constitution or Bylaws.
- C. At any congregational business meeting the members present shall constitute a quorum.
- D. A majority vote of the members present at any congregational business meeting shall prevail, unless stated otherwise in the Constitution or Bylaws.
- E. Voting on amendments to the Constitution or Bylaws, and confirmation of officers or a senior pastor shall be by written ballot. The method used for all other voting shall be at the discretion of the members present.
- F. Absentee ballots for the confirmation of budgets, elders, deacons, and senior pastor shall be made available upon request to active members two weeks prior to any congregational business meeting. To be valid, absentee ballots must be received prior to the congregational business meeting. Absentee ballots are not available for any other matter of business.
- G. Congregational business meetings shall be moderated by a member of the Elder Board.

ARTICLE V – AMENDMENTS

Amendment of these Bylaws requires the written affirmative vote of three-quarters (3/4) of the members present and voting at any congregational business meeting, provided that, at least two (2) weeks in advance,

1) notice of the date, time and location of the meeting has been given by public announcement in the regular services of the church, and 2) printed recommended amendments have been made available.